FILED WASHINGTON STA SUPREME COURT

3133-0 Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 32695-1

## COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION THREE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington,

Respondent,

v.

Oscar Alfred Alden,

Petitioner.

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

James E. Lobsenz, WSBA #8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 *Attorneys for Petitioner* 



۸.

# **

IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW					
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED8					
	Α.	The decision below conflicts with decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court which hold that the right of self-defense is the central component of the Second Amendment and is a fundamental constitutional right				
	В.	The decision below conflicts with this Court's decisions in <i>State v. Burk</i> and <i>City of Seattle v. Montana</i> , where this Court has held that Article 1, Section 24 protects a constitutional right to act in self-defense				
	C.	The decision below ignores the Supreme Court's suggestion that the erroneous exclusion of evidence that supports a claim of self-defense would violate substantive due process				
	D.	The decision below conflicts with <i>Holmes v. South</i> <i>Carolina</i> and with <i>State v. Cayetano-Jaimes</i> , which both hold that some "evidentiary errors" <i>do</i> constitute errors of constitutional magnitude, because there is a constitutional right to present a complete defense				

TABLE OF CONTENTS -  $\boldsymbol{i}$ 

•

~

	E.	The decision below conflicts with Division Three's own prior decision in <i>State v. Stark</i> , and with the decision in <i>State v. Kidd.</i>
	F.	The failure to object to the prosecutor's improper closing argument comment that the defendant had to prove all three elements of self-defense constituted ineffective assistance
VII.	CONC	LUSION

TABLE OF CONTENTS - ii

•

~

# APPENDICES

•

•

Appendix A:	Court of Appeals' Opinion of March 8, 2016 A-1 to A-34
Appendix B:	Order denying reconsideration issued April 26, 2016B-1

١.

TABLE OF CONTENTS - iii

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Washington Cases

# Page(s)

City of Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996)2, 12, 13
City of Seattle v. Evans, 184 Wn.2d 856, 366 P.3d 906 (2015)2, 12, 13
State v. Alexander, 52 Wn. App. 897, 765 P.2d 321 (1988)7, 8
State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 352 P.3d 161 (2015)1
State v. Burk, 114 Wash. 370, 195 P. 16 (1921)2, 12, 13
State v. Callahan, 87 Wn. App. 925, 943 P.2d 676 (1997)7
State v. Cayetano-Jaimes, 190 Wn. App. 286, 359 P.3d 919 (2015)
State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 278 P.3d 225 (2012)1, 2, 8
State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 312 P.3d 960 (2013)2, 12, 13
<i>State v. Kidd</i> , 57 Wn. App. 95, 786 P.2d 847 (1990)3, 18
<i>State v. Lane</i> , 125 Wn.2d 825, 889 P.2d 929 (1995)7
State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 913 P.2d 369 (1996)19
State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983)

•

•

# Page(s)

State v. Rodriguez, 121 Wn. App. 180, 87 P.3d 1201 (2004)19				
State v. Stark, 158 Wn. App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010)				
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)1				
State v. Thompson, 47 Wn. App. 1, 733 P.2d 584 (1987)7				
Other State Cases				
State v. Ward, 170 Iowa 185, 152 N.W. 501 (1917)13				
State v. Hardy, 60 Ohio App.2d 325, 397 N.E.2d 773 (1978)15				
<i>Town of Canton v. Madden,</i> 120 Mo. App. 404, 96 S.W. 699 (1906)15				
Federal Cases				
<i>Caetano v. Massachusetts</i> , 136 S.Ct. 1027 (2016)2, 9				
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.2d. 297 (1973)				
<i>Chapman v. California</i> , 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)1, 8, 9, 11, 15				
Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)1				
Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 L.Ed.2d 636 (1986)18				

•

•

# Page(s)

District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637 (2008)2, 9-12
Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)
Martin v. Ohio, 480 U.S. 228, 107 S.Ct. 1098, 94 L.Ed.2d 267 (1987)14
<i>McDonald v Chicago</i> , 561 U.S. 742, 130 S.Ct. 3020, 177 L.Ed.2d 894 (2010)2, 9
Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 116 S.Ct. 2013, 135 L.Ed.2d 361 (1996) 2, 13-17
Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987)18
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)19, 20
<i>Taylor v. Withrow</i> , 288 F.3d 846 (6 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002)14
<b>Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Court Rules</b>
RAP 13.4(b)
U.S. Constitution, Second Amendment
U.S. Constitution, Sixth Amendment
U.S. Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment
Washington Constitution, art. I, §315
Washington Constitution, art. I, §243, 9
Washington Constitution, art. I, §3015

•

٠

### I. INTRODUCTION

The applicable appellate standard of review for harmless error "depends on whether the [trial] court's error was constitutional or nonconstitutional. The Supreme Court held in *Chapman v. California* that 'before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.' . . . The State bears the burden of demonstrating harmlessness." *State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 302-03, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (citations omitted). "Where the error is *not* of constitutional magnitude, [appellate courts] apply the rule that error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *Id.* at 303. For example, "[a]n evidentiary error which is not of constitutional magnitude, such as erroneous admission of ER 404(b) evidence" is governed by the rule for nonconstitutional errors. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 709, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

But some evidentiary errors *are* of constitutional magnitude. For example, the admission of a testimonial hearsay statement made by a nontestifying declarant violates the Sixth Amendment unless the declarant is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004). Thus, such an error is *both* an error of constitutional magnitude and an "evidentiary error."

In the present case the Court of Appeals relied upon a sentence in

State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 643 n. 16, 278 P.3d 225 (2012) that states, "Generally evidentiary errors are not of constitutional magnitude." (Italics added). The error in *Grier*, however, was the erroneous admission of ER 404(b) evidence offered by the prosecution, and there was no contention in that case that this error was of constitutional magnitude.

In the present case, the error committed was the erroneous exclusion of res gestae evidence offered by the defendant to support his claim that he shot and killed a man in lawful self-defense, and Petitioner Alden submits that this *is* an error of constitutional magnitude. Recent U.S. Supreme Court and Washington Supreme Court decisions make it clear that there *is* both a federal constitutional right and a state constitutional right to use deadly force in self-defense. Relying upon these cases, Petitioner Alden submits that an evidentiary error of exclusion which results in the preventing of the defendant from presenting evidence in support of his claim of self-defense *is* an error of constitutional magnitude. Therefore, the error in this case triggers the *constitutional* harmless error rule of *Chapman*, and consequently the Court of Appeals erred when it applied the nonconstitutional harmless error rule.

The decision below ignores, and is in stark conflict with, several decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court,<sup>1</sup> the Washington Supreme Court,<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570 (2008); McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U.S. 742 (2010); Caetano v. Massachusetts, 136 L.Ed.2d 1027 (2016); Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 56 (1996); Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 312 P.3d 960 (2013); City of Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996); City of Seattle v. Evans, 184 Wn.2d 856, 366 P.3d 906 (2015); State v. Burk, 114 Wash. 370, 195 P. 16 (1921).

and the Washington Court of Appeals.<sup>3</sup> Accordingly, discretionary review is warranted under RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (2), and (3).

### **II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Oscar Alden, Petitioner, seeks review of the decision issued below.

### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the decision issued by Division III of the Court of Appeals on March 8, 2016. (Appendix A). Petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration was denied on April 26, 2016. (Appendix B).

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is the right to use deadly force in self-defense a right of constitutional magnitude, guaranteed by one (or more) of the following:

(a) the Second Amendment to the U.S. Constitution;

- (b) the right to bear arms in defense of self, guaranteed by art. I, §24 of the Washington Constitution;
- (c) the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment or of art. I, §3 of the Washington Constitution; or
- (d) the right to present a complete defense guaranteed by the Compulsory Process Clause of the Sixth Amendment?
- 2. Does the erroneous exclusion of relevant evidence tending

to support a defendant's claim of self-defense trigger the constitutional harmless error test, or the non-constitutional harmless error test?

3. Was the defendant denied his right to effective assistance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Kidd, 57 Wn. App. 95, 786 P.2d 847 (1990); State v. Stark, 158 Wn. App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010); State v. Cayetano-Jaimes, 190 Wn. App. 286, 359 P.3d 919 (2015).

of counsel when his attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's closing argument statement which shifted the burden of proof by erroneously telling the jury what had to be proved "in order for you to return a not guilty verdict by reason of self-defense" (RP 1386), instead of stating that the State had to prove the absence of self-defense in order for the jury to return a guilty verdict?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Oscar Alden was convicted of second degree murder for the shooting of Tom Maks. *Slip Opinion*, at 1. Alden argued that he killed Maks in lawful self-defense. *Id.* His self-defense claim hinged on whether Maks lunged towards him right before he fired. *Id.* 

A group of friends in their early 20s gathered at the Sun Cove vacation home of Dayton Wiseman to celebrate Wiseman's  $23^{rd}$  birthday. *Id.* at 2. Around 9:30 p.m. Maks, who lived next door, accompanied the young people on a trip to the bars in Chelan. *Id.* at 3. Members of the group described Maks as drunk, peculiar, and somewhat aggressive at this time. *Id.* at 4. When the group reached Chelan, Maks drank with them for a while and became even more intoxicated. *Id.* The group lost track of Maks, and between midnight and 1 a.m. the group drove back to Sun Cove without Maks. *Id.* 

Once they returned to the vacation home, most of the group fell asleep in various rooms. Mr. Alden fell asleep in one of the recliners. Sometime later, an angry Mr. Maks entered the vacation home to confront the group for leaving him in Chelan. With a glass of wine in his left hand, Mr. Maks made comments about throwing members of the group off the deck. Mr. Maks put his palm in Ms. Lincoln's face, and flipped over the chair Mr. Alden was sleeping in. Multiple members of the group testified that Mr. Maks had a pistol [FN 1] tucked into the back of his waistband. Mr. Hansen testified that Mr. Maks threatened him: "'How about I give you one to the left, one to the right and one down the center." Report of Proceedings (RP) at 992.

According to Mr. Alden, Mr. Maks was yelling, "You left me in Chelan, you fat, selfish mother f---ers." Mr. Alden testified that Mr. Maks told him specifically, "I'm going to chop your dick off and feed it to my dog." RP at 1102-1103. Mr. Alden claims that at this time, he saw Mr. Maks had some sort of weapon tucked into his back pocket or waistband. Mr. Alden testified that he later heard a woman scream, "Oh, my God, he's got a gun." RP at 1109.

*Id.* at 4-5.

After the police were called, two other young men, Roberts and Meier, escorted Maks out of the house and Maks disappeared, most likely going back to his own house. *Id.* at 5. But Maks returned shortly thereafter and exchanged more words with Roberts and Meier. *Id.* Roberts told Maks, "If you didn't have your gun on you, I would kick your ass right now." *Id.* In reply, Maks lifted his shirt up and spun around to show that he was unarmed. *Id.* Maks took off all his clothes except his underwear and then slapped Meier in the head, starting a fight. *Id.* Roberts punched Maks a few times, knocking him to the ground and the two continued to fight. *Id.* at 5-6. At this point Alden and another young man named Ross exited the vacation house, and Roberts called out to

<sup>1.</sup> The parties stipulated, "That on the evening of June 8, 2013, at approximately 9:30 p.m., Tom Maks left the residence of [a] friend, and had in his possession his 45 caliber 1911 semi-automatic pistol." Clerks Papers (CP) at 286.

Alden telling him to get his gun. *Id.* at 6. Thinking that Maks still had his gun, and that Roberts and Meier were struggling to take it away from Maks, Alden ran to his car and retrieved his own gun, and then came back to where Roberts, Meier and Maks were. *Id.* 

The testimony presented to the jury differed on whether Mr. Maks was moving when Mr. Alden pulled the trigger. *Id.* 

According to Mr. Meier, Mr. Maks was moving, but he was still on his knees and made a movement that was "not jerky but it wasn't slow." RP at 419. Mr. Roberts testified that Mr. Alden was about six inches from Mr. Maks when he shot him, and that Mr. Maks made "no major movements." RP at 526. Mr. Ross testified that before the shot was fired, Mr. Maks was in a "Muslim prayer position where your feet are kind of tucked under you, you know, butt on your feet." RP at 699. Consistent with his self-defense claim, Mr. Alden testified that before he pulled the trigger, Mr. Maks made a sudden movement "like a football player lunging to tackle me." RP at 1130. He also testified that he thought Mr. Maks had a gun in his hand, and "I've never been so scared in my life." RP at 1131. According to Mr. Alden, he was not aware that Mr. Maks was only in his underwear until after he shot him. After the shooting, Mr. Ross told Mr. Alden to unload the gun and put it down, which he did.

*Slip Opinion*, at 6-7.

In order to substantiate his testimony that Maks was the first aggressor, and that Maks lunged towards him just before he fired, Alden sought "to present res gestae evidence of bizarre and aggressive behavior, unknown to Mr. Alden at the time of the shooting, by Mr. Maks in the 12 hours leading up to the shooting." *Id.* at 7-8.

Within the 12-hour period, Mr. Maks had supposedly caused a scene at a convenience store by threatening an employee and throwing a propane tank at her. He also was kicked out of a bar

based on erratic behavior.

*Id.* at 8. In both of these prior incidents, Maks was the aggressor, attacking another person without any provocation. The trial judge excluded evidence of these unprovoked attacks committed earlier in the evening on the ground that since Alden was not aware of these earlier attacks, they could not have contributed to his subjective state of mind at the time of the shooting. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals recognized that this ruling was erroneous because under the *res gestae* doctrine, evidence of the victim's assaultive acts is admissible "to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context of happenings near in time or place." *Id.* at 17, quoting *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). Citing to several past cases, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that in selfdefense cases, aggressive conduct occurring shortly before a shooting is relevant, *regardless* of whether or not the defendant knew about it:

[I]f a defendant has sufficiently raised self-defense, res gestae evidence even unknown by the defendant may be relevant to show that the victim was the first aggressor.

*Slip Opinion*, at 21, citing *State v. Thompson*, 47 Wn. App. 1, 12, 733 P.2d 584 (1987) (earlier acts held relevant because they show "a continuing course of provocative conduct"); *State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. 925, 934, 943 P.2d 676 (1997) (evidence is "admissible to support the inference that the victim was the first aggressor."); and *State v. Alexander*, 52 Wn. App. 897, 900, 765 P.2d 321 (1988) ("As evidence that [the victim] was the first aggressor, [the defendant] offered the testimony of two witnesses

### PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

concerning specific acts of violence by [the victim]. This evidence is relevant to the first aggressor issue . . . ").

The Court of Appeals assumed that the trial judge erred when he excluded the evidence of the two assaults committed earlier in the evening by Mr. Maks, but proceeded to hold the error harmless under the harmless error standard for *non*-constitutional error. *Slip Opinion*, at 22. In footnote #3 the Court rejected Alden's argument that it was required to use the constitutional harmless error test:

Mr. Alden argues that this court should use the constitutional harmless error test because he has a constitutional right to use deadly force to defend himself. "Constitutional errors cannot be deemed harmless unless they are 'harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. McCullum,* 98 Wn.2d 484, 497, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983) (quoting *Chapman v. California,* 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). However, "[g]enerally evidentiary errors are not of constitutional magnitude."

Slip Opinion, at 22, n.3, citing State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 643 n.16, 278 P.3d 225 (2012). Although Alden cited to several U.S. Supreme Court and Washington Supreme Court cases which either hold or suggest that the right to use deadly force in self-defense is a right of constitutional magnitude, the Court of Appeals did not discuss any of them.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The decision below conflicts with decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court which hold that the right of self-defense is the central component of the Second Amendment and is a fundamental constitutional right.

In the court below, Alden argued that the right to use deadly force in self-defense was a federal constitutional right protected by the Second Amendment, and that consequently any error excluding relevant evidence that supported a claim of self-defense was an error of constitutional magnitude which triggers the *Chapman* harmless error rule for constitutional error. The Court of Appeals did not address this argument.

The Second Amendment states that "the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Eight years ago the Supreme Court held this constitutional right to bear arms encompasses a constitutional right to act in self-defense. *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008). *Heller* explicitly rejected the dissenters' "assertion that individual self-defense is merely a 'subsidiary interest' of the right to keep and bear arms," and held instead that self-defense "was the *central component* of the right itself." *Id.* at 599. The *Heller* Court struck down the District of Columbia statute that prohibited the possession of handguns in the home because it infringed upon this central right of self-defense:

[T]he inherent right of self-defense has been central to the Second Amendment right. The handgun ban amounts to a prohibition of an entire class of "arms" that is overwhelmingly chosen by American society for that lawful purpose. The prohibition extends, moreover, to the home, where the need for defense of self, family and property is most acute. Under any of the standards of scrutiny that we have applied to enumerated constitutional rights, banning from the home the most preferred firearm in the nation to 'keep' and use for protection of one's home and family [citation] would fail constitutional muster.

Heller, 554 U.S. at 628 (emphasis added).

Two years later, when the Supreme Court held that the Second Amendment was binding on the States, it again held that the Second Amendment protected the fundamental right to act in self-defense: Self-defense is a basic right, recognized by many legal systems from ancient times to the present, and the *Heller* Court held that individual self-defense is 'the central component' of the Second Amendment right.

McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 767 (2010).

Finally, quite recently the Supreme Court issued a per curiam decision in *Caetano v. Massachusetts*, 136 S.Ct. 1027 (2016). In his concurring opinion, Justice Alito states unequivocally that "[i]t is settled that the Second Amendment . . . right to keep and bear arms . . . vindicates the 'basic right' of 'individual self-defense'' and twice refers to the "fundamental right of self-defense." *Id.* at 1028, 1032.

Thus the Supreme Court has explicitly held that the *underlying purpose* of the Second Amendment right to bear arms is to protect the right to act in self-defense. There is no federal constitutional right to possess arms for the mere sake of possessing them. The possession of arms is constitutionally protected *so that individuals can use them* to protect themselves when their lives are threatened by others.

In the present case, that is precisely the use Alden made of his gun. He testified that he shot and killed Mr. Maks because he feared for his life, and believed that if he didn't shoot in self-defense Maks was going to kill him. RP 1176, 1186, 1200. The key disputed factual issue at Alden's trial was whether Maks lunged toward Alden right before he shot him. The erroneous exclusion of the *res gestae* evidence that Maks had committed unprovoked attacks on two other people earlier in the evening deprived Alden of powerful evidence that Maks was the first aggressor who had been initiating fights throughout the evening. Had the evidence been admitted, it would have supported Alden's testimony that right before he fired his gun Maks lunged at him, and thus it would have supported Alden's contention that he fired in self-defense. The exclusion of the *res gestae* evidence infringed upon Alden's fundamental constitutional right to act in self-defense, protected by the Second Amendment. Since the erroneous exclusion of evidence undermined the exercise of a federal constitutional right, the error was of constitutional magnitude and thus the Court of Appeals should have applied the *Chapman* harmless error rule.

B. The decision below conflicts with this Court's decisions in *State* v. *Burk* and *City of Seattle v. Montana*, where this Court has held that Article 1, Section 24 protects a constitutional right to act in self-defense.

Like the U.S. Constitution, the Washington Constitution also protects the right to bear arms. But unlike the Second Amendment, article 1, §24 *explicitly* protects the right to act in self-defense:

The right of the individual citizen to bear arms *in defense of himself*, or the state, shall not be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men.

(Emphasis added).

As this Court has recently stated:

The phrase 'in defense of himself, or the state,' is no mere prefatory clause, as the Supreme Court found the language "[a] well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State" to be in *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 577, 128 S.Ct. 2783. Rather, the phrase is a necessary and inseparable part of the right in itself.

*State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d 145, 153, 312 P.3d 960 (2013). Moreover, this Court has held that art. 1, §24 constitutionalizes the right to act in self-defense, and that the right to bear arms is protected only insofar as it serves that more basic underlying constitutional right:

The constitutional text indicates the right [to bear arms] is secured not because arms are valued per se, but only to ensure self-defense or defense of state. This suggests the constitutional right should be viewed in such a light.

City of Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 594, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996).

Finally, even more recently this Court stated that the right to act in self-defense is the primary constitutional right protected by art. 1, §24, and that the right to bear arms "is an individual right that exists in the context of that individual's defense of himself . . . ." *City of Seattle v. Evans*, 184 Wn.2d 856, ¶11, 366 P.3d 906 (2015).<sup>4</sup>

In the present case, Oscar Alden maintained that when he shot Tom Maks with a handgun he was acting "in defense of himself," and thus he was exercising this constitutional right. As Alden noted in his briefing in the court below, nearly a century ago this Court explicitly stated that the right to use force in self-defense to protect one's life is a constitutional right. In *State v. Burk*, 114 Wash. 370, 195 P. 16 (1921) the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Evans holds that whether a particular weapon falls within the scope of art. 1, §24 depends upon whether it was "traditionally or commonly used by law abiding citizens for the lawful purpose of self-defense." *Id.* at ¶26. "Both the federal and state constitutions require [courts] to give protection to certain weapons that have been designed and commonly used for self-defense." *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d at ¶34. As the *Evans* opinion notes, *Heller* explicitly held that handguns are covered by the federal constitutional right to bear arms. *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d at ¶17, citing *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 581.

was convicted of unlawfully killing an elk. He maintained he had the right to kill it because it was destroying his property. The Court held that the defendant did have such a right, and noted that he also had the right to use force to defend himself:

If in this case the appellant had undertaken to defend on the ground that he killed the elk for the protection of his life, or that of some member of his family, then unquestionably, such defense would have been available.

*Burk*, 114 Wash. At 374. The *Burk* Court then quoted with approval from the case of *State v. Ward*, 170 Iowa 185, 152 N.W. 501 (1917), another case involving the use of force to protect property:

By way of analogy, we may note that the plea of reasonable selfdefense may always be interposed in justification of the killing of a human being. We see no reason fair reason for holding that the same plea may not be interposed in justification of the killing of a goat or a deer. *The right of defense of person and property is a constitutional right*, \* \* \* and is recognized in the construction of all statutes. ...

Burk, 114 Wash. at 375 (emphasis added).

In the decision issued below, the Court of Appeals declined to address or discuss Jorgenson, Montana, Evans or Burk, and simply

ignored the constitutional magnitude of the right to act in self-defense.

C. The decision below ignores the Supreme Court's suggestion that the erroneous exclusion of evidence that supports a claim of self-defense would violate substantive due process.

In the Court below Alden cited to Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S.

37, 56 (1996), where the U.S. Supreme Court suggested that there was a strong historical support for the proposition that the right to act in self-

defense is a fundamental right protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The *Egelhoff* Court examined a passage from its prior decision in *Martin v. Ohio*, 480 U.S. 228, 233 (1987) which stated that things would be "quite different if the jury had been instructed that self-defense evidence could not be considered in determining whether there was a reasonable doubt about the State's case . . ." Analyzing this passage from *Martin* the *Egelhoff* Court said:

This passage can be explained in various ways - e.g., as an assertion that the right to have a jury consider self-defense evidence (unlike the right to have a jury consider evidence of voluntary intoxication) is fundamental, a proposition that the historical record may support.

Egelhoff, 518 U.S. at 56 (emphasis added).

While the U.S. Supreme Court has not decided this question, some courts have. For example, in a habeas case the Sixth Circuit, explicitly relied upon the *Egelhoff Court*'s reference to deeply rooted historical traditions:

[A] state has broad leeway, for instance, to decide what relevant evidence a defendant may present in a state criminal trial. *See Montana v. Egelhoff*, 518 U.S. 37, 42-43, 116 S.Ct. 2013, 135 L.Ed.2d 361 (1996). A State does not, however, have an unfettered right to run its court proceedings in any manner at all. There are a few customs and principles "so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental," and depriving a defendant of one of these in a criminal trial is constitutional error. *Egelhoff*, 518 U.S. at 43, 116 S.Ct. 2013 (quoting *Patterson [v. New York]*, 432 U.S. [197], at 201-02, 97 S.Ct. 2319).

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