Supreme Court No. 93133-0

Court of Appeals No. 32695-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

٧.

Oscar Alfred Alden, Appellant

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan S. Valaas, WSBA #40695 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Douglas County Courthouse P.O. BOX 360 Waterville, WA 98858 (509) 745-8535

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

II. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) a significant question of law under the Constitution is involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

A. The issue regarding the constitutionality of the right to self-defense is not ripe for review because it has no bearing on Mr. Alden or his case.

In general, a challenge to the constitutionality of a law is not ripe for review unless the person seeking review is harmed by it. *State v. Ziegenfuss*, 118 Wn. App. 110, 113, 74 P.3d 1205 (2003).

Mr. Alden's first issue, whether self-defense is a constitutional right, is not ripe for review because resolution of the issue has no impact on him or his case. This is because the trial court fully allowed Mr. Alden to argue self-defense at trial and allowed Mr. Alden to introduce the evidence supporting that theory. As discussed infra, the State agrees that Mr. Alden has a constitutional right to present a defense, and because Mr. Alden's defense was self-defense, the State agrees that Mr. Alden has a right to present evidence supporting this theory.

Because this issue has no bearing on Mr. Alden's case, and is therefore not ripe for review, the court should decline to accept review of the issue.

B. Whether the exclusion of a small portion of slightly relevant evidence

was error is not reviewable because it is not of constitutional

magnitude.

Although defendants have a constitutional right to present a defense, this right does not extend to irrelevant or inadmissible evidence. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); *State v. Lizarraga*, 191 Wn. App. 530, 553, 364 P.3d 810 (2015).

The defendant's right to present [evidence] is also not absolute . . . 'the accused does not have an unfettered right to offer [evidence] that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence.' The defendant's right to present a defense is subject to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt or innocence.' State and federal rulemakers have broad latitude under the Constitution to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials.'

Id.

Generally, a trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 814, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). Although there are limited cases where evidentiary rulings rise to constitutional magnitude (e.g., refusing to allow a defendant to call

witnesses¹, admitting evidence in violation of the confrontation clause²), most evidentiary rulings do not rise to constitutional magnitude. *See State v. Turnipseed*, 162 Wn. App. 60, 69, 255 P.3d 843 (2011) (quoting *Smith v. Illinois*, 390 U.S. 129, 131, 88 S. Ct. 748, 19 L.Ed.2d 956 (1968)) ("a trial court that limits cross-examination through evidentiary rulings as the examination unfolds does not violate a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights unless its restrictions on examination 'effectively... emasculate the right of cross examination itself'"); *State v. Calegar*, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997) (citing *State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 546, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991)) (holding evidentiary rulings under ER 609(a) are reviewed under the non-constitutional harmless error standard); *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981) (holding a violation of the hearsay rule does not rise to constitutional magnitude).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals held that the excluded evidence was both (1) a harmless non-constitutional error under the trial court's analysis and (2) properly excludable under ER 403 as being cumulative. A closer review of the case makes it clear that the non-constitutional harmless error analysis applies. First, Mr. Alden had wide latitude by the trial court in presenting his self-defense case. As the Court of Appeals noted, the jury heard ample evidence concerning the victim's

¹ See State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 913 P.2d 808 (1996)

² See State v. Jasper, 158 Wn. App. 518, 245 P.3d 228 (2010)

erratic and aggressive behavior. Specifically, the jury heard about multiple instances where the victim threatened someone, was assaultive to someone, etc. Additionally, Mr. Alden testified about his fear of the victim and the victim's behavior leading up to the shooting.

Second, the excluded evidence was extremely attenuated from the crime and minimally relevant. The Court of Appeals highlighted how attenuated this excluded evidence was, by referring to it as having "slight probative value" and noting that, based on all the other evidence admitted regarding the victim's aggressive conduct, the introduction of evidence that the victim had "also caused a disturbance at a convenience store and a bar," which Mr. Alden was unaware of, would not have affected the outcome of the trial.

Third, the Court of Appeals found that the evidence was properly excludable under ER 403 as being cumulative. Even if a trial court errs in an evidentiary ruling, the ruling is harmless if there is a separate basis supporting the ruling. See State v. Gogolin, 45 Wn. App. 640, 645-46, 727 P.2d 683 (1986); State v. Bond, 52 Wn. App. 326, 333, 759 P.2d 1220 (1988). Because Mr. Alden was able to get in the vast majority of the evidence relating to the victim's aggressive behavior, and based on the attenuated nature of the excluded evidence, the Court of Appeals concluded that the evidence would have been excludable under ER 403 as

being cumulative. And as discussed above, evidence properly excluded under the rules of evidence does not rise to a level of constitutional magnitude. *Lizarraga* at 553.

Fourth, the cases Mr. Alden cites in support of his constitutional harmless error argument are distinguishable from the present case. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006); State v. Cayetano-Jaimes, 190 Wn. App. 286, 359 P.3d 919 (2015); State v. Stark, 158 Wn. App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010); State v. Kidd, 57 Wn. App. 95, 786 P.2d 847 (1990). In Holmes, the defendant was deprived of his entire thirdparty guilt defense. Holmes at 323. In the present case, Mr. Alden was fully allowed to argue his self-defense case; the court merely excluded a small amount of cumulative, attenuated, conduct by the victim that wasn't even known by the defendant. In Cayetano, the defendant was deprived of "relevant and highly probative" evidence that was vital to his case, Cayetano at 289; in contrast, the evidence in the present was neither highly probative nor highly relevant, but rather of "slight probative value." The holdings in Stark and Kidd are distinguishable because, in those cases, the State was relieved of its burden to disprove self-defense based on an erroneously included aggressor instruction. Stark at 961; Kidd at 101.

Finally, a frank observation of Mr. Alden's argument leads to the conclusion that Mr. Alden seeks to completely abolish the use of the non-

constitutional harmless error analysis for any and all evidentiary rulings related to a defendant's case.

Based on these reasons, the Court should decline review of this evidentiary ruling.

C. Whether Mr. Alden was denied effective assistance of counsel is not reviewable.

In ruling on Mr. Alden's IAC claim, the Court of Appeals held that trial counsel's failure to object did not constitute deficient performance because the State's closing argument was not an egregious and obvious misstatement of law, particularly when read in conjunction with the jury instruction. Mr. Alden does not provide any reason why this issue should be reviewed by the Supreme Court and the State cannot conceive of any; therefore, review of the issue should be denied.

III.CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, the Court should decline Mr.

Alden's petition for review.